THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Supreme Court

RECEIVED

DEC 03 2018

S.C. SUPREME COURT

APPEAL FROM BEAUFORT COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
Post-Conviction Relief

R. Scott Sprouse, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No.: 2017-002494

Jaquwn Brewer #347482,..... Petitioner,

vs.

State of South Carolina,Respondent.

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

Tommy A. Thomas, Esq.
Attorney for Petitioner
7588 Woodrow Street
P.O. Box 88
Irmo, S.C. 29063
(803) 732-5507

Christian Saville Esq.
Office of the Attorney General
Attorney for Respondent
P.O. Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211-1549

QUESTION PRESENTED

Did the Lower Court err in not granting Post-Conviction Relief on the basis that the Petitioner was unaware that trial counsel intended to concede that he shot the Victim Donald Parker?

Did the Lower court err in not granting Post Conviction Relief on the basis that trial counsel failed to argue and preserve for Appeal that the video statement was inadmissible and a violation of the confrontational clause?

Did the Lower Court err in not granting Post Conviction Relief on the basis that Appellate Counsel was ineffective for failure to raise the issue of Burden Shifting?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant is presently confined in the South Carolina Department of Corrections pursuant to orders of commitment of the Beaufort County Court of General Sessions. Appellant was indicted during the June 2009 term of the Beaufort County Grand Jury for one count of assault and battery with intent to kill (ABWIK), one count of possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime and one count of murder (2009-GS-07-1279,-1296,-1293). Appellant proceeded to jury trial and was found guilty as indicted. Jared S. Newman, Esquire, represented Appellant. On August 26, 2011, the Honorable William H. Seals, Jr. sentenced him to a term of imprisonment of twenty years for ABWIK, five years for Possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime and life without parole for murder. The sentences were ordered to be run concurrently.

A timely notice of appeal was filed on Applicant's behalf and an appeal perfected pursuant to Anders v. California, 378 U.S. 738, 87 S. Ct. 1396 (1967). The South Carolina Court of Appeals sent a certified question to the South Carolina Supreme Court. The South Carolina Supreme Court affirmed in part; reversed in part, and remanded. State v. Brewer, 411 S.C. 401, 768 S.E. 2d 656 (2015). The Remittitur was issued on March 5, 2015.

An evidentiary hearing on Appellant's PCR Application was convened on February 13, 2017, at the Beaufort County Courthouse. The Appellant was represented by James K. Falk, Esq. Ruston W. Neely, Esq. represented the Respondent. An Order of Dismissal was signed by The Honorable R. Scott Sprouse on October 30, 2017. A timely Notice of Appeal was filed.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The Petitioner, Jaquwn Brewer was indicted for three charges one count of assault and battery with intent to kill (ABWIK), one count of possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime and one count of murder. (2009-GS-07-1279,-1296,-1293) The Petitioner was tried by Jury on August 22, 2011 – August 26, 2011. The Honorable William Henry Seals, Jr. presiding. The Jury returned guilty verdicts on all three counts. At the Jury Trial, the Judge admitted portions of an audio recording from an interrogation of the Petitioner which contained statements of unidentified declarants. The Petitioner's trial attorney objected to the admission of this evidence.

An Application for Post Conviction Relief was filed August 10, 2015. The Application alleged ineffective assistance of trial counsel as well as ineffective assistance of Appellate Counsel. A Post Conviction Relief hearing was held February 13, 2017 before the Honorable R. Scott Sprouse. The Petitioner was represented by James K. Falk, Esq. The State was represented by Ruston Neely, Esq.

Prior to filing a Post Conviction Relief, the Petitioner filed a Direct Appeal. The Direct Appeal concerned the admission of Brewer's unredacted audio tape interrogation by the Police. The Court found that the admission of the interrogation was in error. However, they affirmed Brewer's conviction for Assault and Battery with Intent to Kill and Possession of a Weapon during the Commission of a Violent Crime, as the error was harmless with respect to the charges. The Court did reverse the Murder conviction and remanded for a new trial. The Court notes, that despite learning from many witnesses that there were at least two shooters in the club parking lot that night, investigators pursued the Petitioner as the only suspect.

In an interview at the Beaufort County Sheriff's Office, Brewer waived his Miranda rights and agreed to speak with investigators. The recording of this interview, including the interrogators' hearsay-laden questions and comments, was played for the jury. The investigators informed Brewer that many witnesses observed him shoot both victims, which was true only with respect to the shooting of Parker inside the Club. Brewer denied involvement in either shooting, and approximately twenty minutes into the interview, Brewer told investigators that he wanted to end the interrogation. Yet the interrogation continued. The investigators employed various tactics to extend the interrogation, including bringing Brewers' mother into the room and repeatedly telling Brewer that he should "prove himself innocent" by turning in his handgun, all of which was audiotaped and played to the jury, over Brewer's objection. (App. p. 830)

The Court found that, early on, Brewer stated multiple times he was "ready to go." Brewer reminded the officers that they said he could stop the questioning at any time. When Brewer continued to ask that the interrogation stop, an investigator answered, "No." Brewer finally stated, "Man, I don't wanna talk no more." The investigator responded that if Brewer were innocent, he could prove his innocence by producing his gun. The investigators demanding Brewer prove his innocence continued unabated, even after Brewer repeatedly said, "I can't say no more."

Brewer moved, on the basis of hearsay, to have the investigators' statements redacted from the audiotaped recording of his interrogation. The trial court denied Brewer's request. Brewer was convicted on all charges.

The Argument and issue presented on Appeal by counsel for the Petitioner was “Did the Circuit Court improperly admit hearsay statements contained on an audio recording of an interrogation interview, identifying Appellant as the perpetrator?”

In the analysis of the issue presented, the Court points out that the improper admission of hearsay testimony constitutes reversible error only when the admission causes prejudice, State v. Jennings, 394 S.C. 473, 478, 716 S.E. 2d 91, 93 (2011) and State v. Garner, 389 S.C. 61, 697 SE 2d 615 (Court of Appeals 2010). The court goes further to note that error is deemed harmless when it could not have reasonably affected the result of a trial and an Appellate Court will not set aside a conviction for such insubstantial errors and that whether an error is harmless, depends on the circumstances of the particular case. The Court concludes that review of the evidence shows that the error was harmless with the first shooting inside the club, but not harmless concerning the second shooting in the parking lot outside of the club. The Court therefore concludes that the error in admitting the interrogation statement was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt as it relates to the Assault and Battery with Intent to Kill and the Weapon’s charge. The Court goes further to state that the evidence regarding the second shooting “stands in stark contrast”. Where there was only circumstantial evidence against the Petitioner for the Murder. That there were two potential shooters in the parking lot. (App. p. 719)

There are two dissenting opinions; Justice Pleconis as well as Justice Beatty. Justice Pleconis in his dissent would affirm both of the Petitioner’s convictions. His dissent is interesting to note that he states the vast majority of eight objectionable statements relate to what is referred to as the first shooting and only a portion of the eight passage specifically relate to the second shooting. Lastly, he makes the statement

that the Petitioner seeks reversal solely on the basis of the Trial Court's refusal to strike these eight statements from evidence. (App. p. 728) The Petitioner notes here that the issue raised on Appeal was solely the issue of hearsay.

Justice Beatty raises the issue that the Jury was repeatedly bombarded with the unconstitutional notion that Brewer had to prove that he was innocent. In Justice Beatty's view, this created a due process structural defect. Structural defects are not subject to a harmless error analysis regardless of the evidence presented and accordingly, he would have reversed all of Brewer's convictions and remanded for a new trial. (App. p. 729)

In the Petitioner's Application for Post-Conviction Relief, he alleges two grounds.

1. Ineffective assistance of Trial Attorney
2. Ineffective assistance of Appellate Attorney. (App. p. 757)

In an addendum, attached to that document, the Applicant goes further to more specifically state in part:

1. That Trial Counsel was ineffective for conceding guilty on Applicant's behalf without his consent; and
2. That Appellate Counsel was ineffective for failure to raise the burden shifting issue, which was preserved for Appeal and a 5th Amendment violation. (App. p. 761)

Trial Counsel stated at the Post Conviction Relief hearing that a number of witnesses actually saw the Petitioner fire inside of the club and there were two photographs of the Petitioner with a pistol in his waistband. (App. p. 804, lines 1-6) Also that the DJ testified that he actually witnessed the Petitioner fire the gun (App. p.

804, lines 6-8) Trial Counsel testified that as trial strategy, that he wanted to argue that it was not an Assault with Intent to Kill, that it was a lesser offense, High and Aggravated Nature. That he did concede to the Jury that the Petitioner did shoot inside the club, but there was no intent to kill. He stated that he thought that this was the only way to maintain credibility with the Jury and that a shooting in the leg is an Assault and Battery of a High and Aggravated Nature. (App. p. 804, lines 9-25) Trial Counsel does concede that he should have discussed this issue with his client. (App. p. 806, lines 1-5)

Appellate Counsel testified that the issue that he raised on Appeal was a hearsay problem with statements that were included on the audio recording. (App. 812, lines 21-23) Appellate Counsel further states that he raised this issue as a hearsay issue. He did not raise it as a confrontational clause issue. (App. p. 813, lines 3-5) He states that he did not think that this issue was explicitly argued in the Lower Court.

Appellate Counsel states that in regard to the burden shifting argument, he didn't raise it. His concern was it was a statement made on a piece of evidence that was introduced into Court and not by a participant such as the Prosecutor's Office. (App. p. 813, lines 17-25) Appellate Counsel notes that the burden shifting was discussed over, over and over at the Trial. (App. p. 814, line 25, p. 815, line 1) Appellate Counsel concedes that the burden shifting was an issue and should have been raised. But he did not raise it for strategic reasons and it was just an error on his part. (App. p. 815, lines 14-18)

Appellate Counsel admits that in a footnote to the Supreme Court's Order it clearly implies that the impropriety of the continuing of the investigation is not an issue

that is before the Court (App. p. 720) and it highlights an issue that needed to be explored. (App. p. 818, lines 13-19)

Appellate Counsel also acknowledges that he did not raise the confrontational clause issue because it was not preserved. That a confrontational clause violation is a 6th Amendment violation. (App. p 822, lines 21-24) Appellate Counsel states that had it been preserved as a confrontational clause issue he would have raised that issue before the Supreme Court. (App. p. 825, lines 2-5)

On November 5, 2017, the Court issued an Order of Dismissal. The Petitioner's allegations as set forth in the Order are:

1. Ineffective Assistance of Counsels failure to object to the interview tape on 5th Amendment grounds.
2. Ineffective Assistance of Appellate Counsel's failure to brief the burden shifting issue.

FAILURE TO OBJECT ON 5TH AMENDMENT GROUNDS

The Court, in its Order, states that Counsel properly objected to the introduction of Petitioner's statement in a Jackson v. Deno hearing on four separate grounds.

1. Continuation of the interview after Petitioner requested that the interview stop.
2. The Mother of Petitioner was brought into the interview room to reopen the interview.
3. The hearsay testimony used by the interviewing officers; and
4. Law Enforcements insistence that Petitioner prove his innocents with burden shifting (App. p. 835)

The Order of Dismissal finds that these issues were preserved and reviewed by the South Carolina Supreme Court.

FAILURE TO BRIEF THE BURDEN SHIFTING ISSUE

The Court finds in regards to Ineffective Assistance of Appellate Counsel, that Trial Counsel objected to the audio tape on the basis that Law Enforcement statements were burden shifting and that this ground was not briefed by Appellate Counsel. That Appellate Counsel was not deficient for failing to raise a different issue. The Court goes further to note “where the Court agreed with Appellate Counsel and found in their favor. Appellate Counsel’s argument was successful. There can be no stronger argument than a winning argument.” (App. p. 833) Accordingly, the Court found that the Petitioner failed to prove that Appellate Counsel’s briefing decisions were deficient.

ARGUMENT

Did the Lower Court err in not granting Post Conviction Relief on the basis that Appellate Counsel was ineffective for failure to raise the issue of Burden Shifting?

Did the Lower Court err in not granting Post-Conviction Relief on the basis that the Petitioner was unaware that trial counsel intended to concede that he shot the Victim Donald Parker?

Did the Lower court err in not granting Post Conviction Relief on the basis that trial counsel failed to argue and preserve for Appeal that the video statement was inadmissible and a violation of the confrontational clause?

Counsel for the Petitioner is going to argue the ineffective assistance of Appellate Counsel issue first.

The Petitioner would assert that the Court’s finding that Appellate Counsel was not deficient for failing for raise a different issue, is clearly in error. The Court seems to

equate a win on the issue of hearsay, as a nullification of the need of any other arguments regarding this matter. The Court's statement that there can be no stronger argument than a winning argument completely ignores the Supreme Court's Order. Justice Beatty in his dissent clearly points out the PCR Court's error in its decision. Justice Beatty writes that a due process structural defect existed in this trial and that structural defects are not subject to a harmless error analysis regardless of the evidence presented. He cites State v. Rivera 402 S.C. 225, 741 SE 2d 694 (2013) The Supreme Court affirmed in part, reversed in part and remanded. The reversal and ordering of a new trial on the murder charge left standing a twenty (20) year sentence on the Assault and Battery with Intent to Kill charge.

The Supreme Court found that a harmless error evaluation was required as a result of Appellate Counsel's issue of a hearsay violation. The Supreme Court broke the incident down into two sections. A shooting inside of the club and a shooting outside of the club. The Court found these to be two very different scenarios and found that the Statements made in relation to the inside of the club was harmless error. The Petitioner would assert that had Appellate Counsel argued the issue of burden shifting then as pointed out by Justice Beatty, the prejudice analysis would not have been required and the Court would not have conducted its harmless error analysis regarding the inside shooting. Therefore, had Appellate Counsel argued the Burden Shifting issue, the Court would have been inclined to have reversed all of his convictions and ordered a new trial on all three convictions rather than just the Murder charge.

Clearly Appellate Counsel was ineffective.

Did the Lower Court err in not granting Post-Conviction Relief on the basis that the Petitioner was unaware that trial counsel intended to concede that he shot the Victim Donald Parker?

The Petitioner would assert that he had the right to make the decision as to whether or not an admission to shooting could be made by his attorney in front of the Jury. Generally under the United States and the South Carolina Constitutions' a Defendant has a right to remain silent and to not testify during his trial. To make this right meaningful, our Courts have held that it is impermissible for the State to comment directly or indirectly on the Defendant's failure to testify at trial. United States Constitution Amendment V; S.C. Constitution Article I §12, Gill v. State, 346 S.C. 209, 552 S.E. 2d 26 (2001), Johnson v. State, 325 S.C. 182, 480 S.E. 2d 733 (1997).

The Petitioner would argue that this admission by counsel was an encroachment on his right to remain silent. This information only could have been used after discussion with Petitioner and his consent. Therefore, counsel's use of this information, even as trial strategy without the permission of the Petitioner was in violation of his constitutional rights and as such trial counsel was ineffective.

Did the Lower court err in not granting Post Conviction Relief on the basis that trial counsel failed to argue and preserve for Appeal that the video statement was inadmissible and a violation of the confrontational clause?

Appellate counsel also acknowledges that he didn't raise the confrontational clause issue because it was not preserved and that if there is a confrontational clause violation it means that there is a 6th Amendment violation. (App. p. 822, lines 21-24)

Appellate Counsel also states that had it been preserved, that the confrontational clause issue he would have raised that issue before the Court (App. 825, lines 2-5)