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

ARGUMENTS

I. Certiorari is not where probative evidence supports the conclusion the appellate counsel was not ineffective under Strickland v Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984) when he failed to present an issue that he claims was burden shifting.

In his petition before this Court, Brewer asserts that the appellate counsel in the direct appeal an argument that he asserts is a "burden-shifting" issue. He relies upon Justice Beatty's dissent in the direct appeal as support for his position. Petitioner now claims that had the Petitioner argued and the Court adopted Justice Beatty's dissent, a harmless error analysis would not have been done as it related to the assault and battery with intent to kill conviction. Respondent submits that certiorari should be denied for a number of reasons.

The Petitioner references the following in support of his position. In the dissent in the direct appeal, Justice Beatty stated the following:

I concur in part and dissent in part. I agree that admission of Brewer's interrogation was error. I also agree that the murder conviction should be reversed as a result of this error. However, I depart from the majority's conclusion that admission of the interrogation was harmless as it relates to the charges of ABWIK and possession of a firearm during the commission of a violent crime.

But for the solicitor's numerous instances of burden shifting, via the interrogation tape, I would agree that the error was harmless as to the latter charges. However, the jury was repeatedly bombarded with the unconstitutional notion that Brewer had to prove that he was innocent. In my view, this created a due process structural defect in the trial. Structural defects are not subject to a harmless-error analysis regardless of the evidence presented. See State v. Rivera, 402 S.C. 225, 247, 741 S.E.2d 694, 705 (2013) (“[D]espite the strong interests upon which the harmless-error doctrine is based, there are certain constitutional rights which are so basic to a fair trial that their infraction can never be treated as harmless error. These are structural defects in the constitution of the trial mechanism, which defy analysis by harmless-error standards and which affect the framework within which the trial proceeds, rather than simply an error in the trial process itself.” (internal quotations omitted) (citing Arizona v. Fulminante, 499 U.S. 279, 306–08, 111 S.Ct. 1246, 113 L.Ed.2d 302 (1991))). Accordingly, I would reverse all of Brewer's convictions and remand for a new trial.

State v. Brewer, 411 S.C. 401, 412, 768 S.E.2d 656, 661–62 (2015).

HOW THE PCR COURT RULED

In the Order of Dismissal, Judge Spouse stated the following in rejected this allegation:

B. Ineffective Assistance of Appellate Counsel

A defendant is constitutionally entitled to effective assistance of appellate counsel. Evitts v. Lucey, 469 U.S. 387, 105 S.Ct. 830, 83 L.Ed.2d 821 (1985). Appellate counsel has a professional duty to choose among potential issues according to their merit. Jones v. Barnes, 463 U.S. 745 (1983). Where the strategic decision to exclude certain issues on appeal is based on reasonable professional judgment, the failure to appeal all trial errors is not ineffective assistance of counsel. Griffin v. Aiken, 775 F.2d 1226 (4th Cir. 1985).

Applicant must show appellate counsel's performance was deficient and he was prejudiced by the deficiency. Gilchrist v. State, 364 S.C. 173, 612 S.E.2d 702 (2005). When a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel is based upon failure to raise viable issues, the court must examine the record to determine “whether appellate counsel failed to present significant and obvious issues on appeal.” Gray v. Greer, 800 F.2d 644, 646 (7th Cir. 1986). Generally, the presumption of effective assistance of counsel will be overcome only when the alleged ignored issues are clearly stronger than those actually raised on appeal. *Id.*

Failed to brief burden shifting issue.

Counsel objected to the audio tape on the basis that law enforcement's statements were burden shifting. Tr. 76-77; 614. This ground was not briefed by Appellate Counsel. However, Appellate Counsel argued the admission of the audio tape was improper on other grounds. The Supreme Court reviewed the introduction of the audio tape and found the admission of the audio tape was in error. Brewer, 411 S.C. 401, 768 S.E.2d 656. Appellate Counsel was not deficient for failing to raise a different ground, as to why the interview material was inadmissible, where the Court agreed with Appellate Counsel and found in their favor. Appellate Counsel's argument was successful. There can be no stronger argument than a winning argument.

The Court ruled the admission of the objected to portions of the audio tape was in error. Applicant argues Appellate Counsel should have briefed the burden shifting issue in order for the Court to rule the admission of the audio tape was in error. The Court ruled the admission was in error based on the issues Appellate Counsel chose. Therefore, Applicant has failed to prove he was prejudiced where the Supreme Court found the audio tape inadmissible based on the grounds raised.

Accordingly, this Court finds Applicant failed to prove Appellate Counsel's briefing decisions were deficient. Applicant also failed to prove he was prejudiced such that there was a reasonable probability the result of the appeal would have been different had Appellate Counsel had also briefed the burden shifting issue. Accordingly, this Court denies and dismisses this allegation.

App. 836-837.

During the trial, in objecting to the admission of the taped statement on various grounds, counsel Jared Newman made the following assertion:

If the investigator were in court, he would not be allowed to say that. . I don't think they should be able to get those hearsay statements in under the guise of an interrogation. Those should be, if nothing else, redacted or deleted from that recording. And then infected throughout the interview is an - for the jury to hear that you can prove yourself innocent, Get us this gun, it'll prove you innocent. You can prove yourself innocent. Help me prove you innocent. I believe the Court -- it's contrary to the Court's charge initially when you charge the jury and finally you're going to tell them, I believe, in the general charge that the defendant is under no burden to prove himself innocent at any time. It's up to the State and the State solely to amass and collect evidence and present it to show guilt. Infected throughout the entire interrogation, that burden under Sandstrom versus Montana has shifted to the defendant.

The jury's going to hear that and question themselves. Well, if he was innocent, why didn't he come forward with the evidence to prove

himself innocent. He does not have to do that and you can't un-ring that bell out of the jury's mind. It's wholly infected throughout that audio. Those are the four problems I have, Your Honor.

App. 76-77. The trial court denied the motion to exclude. App. 85, 1. 18-22.

In the appeal, counsel Brown raised the following issue:

Did the circuit court improperly admit hearsay statements, contained on an audio recording of an interrogation interview, identifying Appellant as the perpetrator?

Final Brief of Appellant. In the brief, the Petitioner's counsel did not assert that the admission of the statement unconstitutionally shifted the burden of proof. However, in the Petition for Rehearing, counsel Brown stated the following as it related to the pertinent matter currently before this Court:

While the burden shifting issue is not the error being ruled upon, these concerns are part of the context of the case which should be considered during the prejudice analysis. In fact, Justice Beatty's dissent elevates this error to one which constitutes a structural defect in the trial. At a minimum, the fact the hearsay testimony was introduced contemporaneous with the burden shifting comments is a circumstance which must be considered in the harmless error analysis even if these comments are not properly before the court or arise to the level of a structural defect.

State v. Brewer, Petition for Rehearing. App. 731-732. Rehearing was denied by the Court.

During the PCR hearing, counsel Newman testified that he objected on Miranda and Edwards grounds, but also objected on what he asserted was a structural error. App.p. 797. Newman claimed that the ground that he thought was the strongest was the structural trial defect. App. 800 - 801.

Appellate counsel Brown testified that he did not raise a Confrontation Clause issue, instead raising the improper admission of the statement as a hearsay issue in the appeal. App. 813. He stated that he thought the hearsay issue was exclusively argued ,

but not the Confrontation Clause issue. He stated that he did not know if it would have come out differently regarding prejudice. He stated that if it was preserved, "then it was my fault that I did not raise that issue should that have been raised, and if that would have been successful for Mr. Brewer under another analysis." App. 813. Brown stated:

The burden-shifting issue is like the elephant sitting in the room, but I will tell you, and I -- and I may be wrong on this statement of law -- the burden shifting was by the witness. And actually, I say the witness. It was by the participant law enforcement detective in the case, and I didn't raise it as a burden-shifting issue because it was a statement made on a piece of evidence that was introduced in court, not by a participant, such as the prosecutor's office. Certainly, it was their evidence they put up. If I'm wrong on that, then I am wrong without a reason to have made that wrong decision. But I did not raise the burden-shifting issue because, like I said, I assume since the party didn't argue it, that it was just a participant during the recording. And those are the two other issues that I know I considered.

App. 813-814. Appellate counsel Brown noted that the State did not argue that the burden of proof shifted. However, Brown acknowledged that the detectives in their interrogation clearly shifted the burden upon Brewer. However, Brown opined that he had never seen a burden shifting case based upon a piece evidence. App. 814. See also App. P. 823, l. 16-22. Counsel Brown further admitted that the burden shift was mentioned in the record and preserved by Newman. App. 815.³ However, counsel declared he did not know if he was right or wrong in not raising it. App. 823, l. 21-22.

ANALYSIS

³ In his Petition, Petitioner asserts that counsel Brown testified that he conceded that the burden shifting issue was an issue and should have been raised and that he did not raise it for strategic reasons and that it was an error on his part., citing App. 815, l. 14-18. Petition for Writ of Certiorari, p. 8. This is incorrect. The reference on App. 815 concerns whether there was an Edwards v. Arizona violation in the interrogation, not the burden shifting issue.

The Petitioner argues that the PCR court erred in its analysis because of Justice Beatty's conclusion that there was a structural error in the case and that the structural errors are not subject to harmless error. Petition, p. 11. Petitioner takes issue with the PCR court's conclusion that counsel was not deficient for failing to raise a different ground, as to why the interview was inadmissible, where the Supreme Court agreed with Appellate Counsel and found in their favor. He particularly takes issue with the Court's comment that "there can be no stronger argument than a winning argument." Petition, p. 11. He claims that if appellate counsel would have argued the burden shifting issue, then it would have been a structural error and the prejudice analysis would not have been appropriate.

Respondent submits that this argument is without merit. First, the Supreme Court noted the Sandstrom concern prior to its assessment of the existence of prejudice:

Beyond the hearsay error, we wish to briefly comment on the grave constitutional error in the admission of the challenged evidence in this case. Law enforcement's ad nauseam insistence that Brewer prove his innocence has no place before the jury. It is chilling that we have to remind the State that an accused is presumed innocent and that the State has the burden to prove guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. See U.S. Const. amend. V ("No person ... shall be compelled in any criminal case to be a witness against himself..."); Sandstrom v. Montana, 442 U.S. 510, 512, 99 S.Ct. 2450, 61 L.Ed.2d 39 (1979) (noting that the Fourteenth Amendment requires **660 that "the State prove every element of a criminal offense beyond a reasonable doubt").

State v. Brewer, 411 S.C. 401, 408, 768 S.E.2d 656, 659-60 (2015)

The Supreme Court assessment addressed prejudice in light of the Sandstrom issue and its conclusion that the portions of the statement should not have been admitted.

A careful review of the evidence convinces us the error was harmless in connection with the first shooting inside the Club, but not harmless concerning the second shooting in the parking lot of the Club.

The evidence of Brewer's guilt is overwhelming as to the shooting of Parker inside the Club. The State introduced a photograph showing the gun in Brewer's waistband. Corroboration is found in the testimony of the many witnesses who were inside the Club. For example, Bright, the photographer, saw Brewer draw his weapon and point it at Stevenson, one of the organizers of the party. Immediately thereafter, Bright heard gunshots. Several witnesses saw Brewer shooting inside the Club, all of whom testified and were subject to cross-examination. By all accounts, there was only one shooter inside the Club—Brewer. Accordingly, we find that the error in the admission of the interrogators' statements was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt as it relates to the assault and battery with intent to kill and weapon charges. See Mitchell, 286 S.C. at 573, 336 S.E.2d at 151 (“Error is harmless when it ‘could not reasonably have affected the result of the trial.’” (quoting State v. Key, 256 S.C. 90, 93, 180 S.E.2d 888, 890 (1971))); State v. Johnson, 298 S.C. 496, 499, 381 S.E.2d 732, 733 (1989) (“The admission of improper evidence is harmless where it is merely cumulative to other evidence.” (citing Blackburn, 271 S.C. at 329, 247 S.E.2d at 337)).

The evidence regarding the second shooting stands in stark contrast, providing at best only a thin, circumstantial case against Brewer for Jones's murder. The shot that killed Jones came from the parking lot where Brewer and Middleton were both shooting their guns. Despite acknowledging that Middleton was shooting a handgun with a laser sight in the parking lot and that eight shell casings were recovered next to *410 the laser sight,⁵ the lead investigator testified that he “didn't identify any other suspects” aside from Brewer. Given the presence of at least two shooters in the parking lot, and the lack of direct evidence pointing conclusively to Brewer as the one who fired the fatal shot, we hold that the admission of the challenged statements cannot be deemed harmless.

State v. Brewer, 411 S.C. 401, 409–10, 768 S.E.2d 656, 660 (2015).

The Petitioner is incorrect that the admission of the evidence was a structural error that is not subject to harmless error analysis. Appellate counsel was not deficient in failing to separately raise the issue. As noted, the Supreme Court concluded that the portions of the statement were improperly admitted. He reasonably raised the claim that was successful.

Further deficient performance is not shown because there is no reasonable probability that the result would have been different had he raised this additional argument. The Supreme Court concluded that harmless error existed. First, the

Petitioner misreads the probative power of the dissent he relies upon. The argument was raised in his petition for rehearing in his challenge to harmless error. In the dissent, Justice Beatty suggested that the alleged burden shifting comments, presented through the interrogation comments, was a structural error, *citing State v. Rivera*, 402 S.C. 225, 247, 741 S.E.2d 694, 705 (2013). As noted, this issue was not before the Court, and if it is/was, the entire jury instructions must be considered and called up before this Court under SCACR Rule 212(A). See App. 658-661.

Nevertheless, the Justice Beatty confused matters of “structural error” with prejudicial error. The jury was properly charged on the burden of proof on the basis of the record before this Court. ROA 181. The prosecution similarly acknowledged the burden of proof. ROA 353.

The United State Supreme Court addressed a similar misimpression in Glebe v. Frost, 135 S.Ct. 429 (2014). In Glebe, the Court summarily reversed the Ninth Circuit concerning a restriction in a defense summation which the circuit court had contended a shifting the burden of proof. In a criminal trial, whether at the state or federal level, “[t]he prosecution bears the burden of proving all elements of the offense charged, and must persuade the factfinder ‘beyond a reasonable doubt’ of the facts necessary to establish each of those elements.” Sullivan v. Louisiana, 508 U.S. 275, 277–78, 113 S.Ct. 2078, 124 L.Ed.2d 182 (1993); In re Winship, 397 U.S. 358, 363–64, 90 S.Ct. 1068, 25 L.Ed.2d 368 (1970) (“The reasonable-doubt standard plays a vital role in the American scheme of criminal procedure. It is a prime instrument for reducing the risk of convictions resting on factual error. The standard provides concrete substance for the presumption of innocence—that bedrock axiomatic and elementary principle whose enforcement lies at the foundation of the administration of our criminal law

Sullivan provides that “the essential connection to a ‘beyond a reasonable doubt’ factual finding cannot be made where the *instructional error* consists of a misdescription of the burden of proof, which vitiates all the jury’s findings.” 508 U.S. at 281, 113 S.Ct. 2078. The Court in *Sullivan* also engages in a useful discussion of structural versus harmless errors. *Id.* at 278–82, 113 S.Ct. 2078. The Court cites to Arizona v. Fulminante, 499 U.S. 279, 308–10, 111 S.Ct. 1246, 113 L.Ed.2d 302 (1991), which discusses the distinction between potentially harmless “trial errors,” and never-harmless “structural errors.” “Trial errors” are problems which occur during a case’s presentation to the trier of fact and may be assessed in the context of other evidence. They may be harmless and are harmless if the error can be examined against the other trial evidence and a determination made that the error was not serious enough that it would have caused the jury to have a reasonable doubt of the defendant’s guilt. *See id.* at 310, 111 S.Ct. 1246. In contrast, “structural errors” are “violations ... in the constitution of the trial mechanism,” and are “defect[s] affecting the framework within which the trial proceeds” which inhibit the trial’s “function as a vehicle for determination of guilt or innocence.” *Id.* at 309–10, 111 S.Ct. 1246 (*quoting Rose v. Clark*, 478 U.S. 570, 578, 106 S.Ct. 3101, 92 L.Ed.2d 460 (1986)). They are never harmless.

As the Supreme Court has stated: “[W]e have repeatedly recognized that the commission of a constitutional error at trial alone does not entitle a defendant to automatic reversal. Instead, “ ‘most constitutional errors can be harmless.’ ” Neder v. United States, 527 U.S. 1, 8, 119 S.Ct. 1827, 144 L.Ed.2d 35 (1999) (*quoting Arizona v. Fulminante*, 499 U.S. 279, 306, 111 S.Ct. 1246, 113 L.Ed.2d 302 (1991)). “ ‘[I]f the defendant had counsel and was tried by an impartial adjudicator, there is a strong presumption that any other [constitutional] errors that may have occurred are subject to harmless-error analysis.’ ” 527

U.S., at 8, 119 S.Ct. 1827 (quoting Rose v. Clark, 478 U.S. 570, 579, 106 S.Ct. 3101, 92 L.Ed.2d 460 (1986)). Only in rare cases has this Court held that an error is structural, and thus requires automatic reversal. In such cases, the error “necessarily render[s] a criminal trial fundamentally unfair or an unreliable vehicle for determining guilt or innocence.” Neder, supra, at 9, 119 S.Ct. 1827 (emphasis deleted).⁴ This evidentiary issue does not rise to that level.

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